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Old Mukwonago Dispatch 

September 7, 2010 

 

CHURCH LEADER’S CRIMINAL PAST UNCOVERED 

 

By Livingston Dell 

Old Mukwonago, Packerland—Last night’s Labor Day festivities ended with a surprising turn 

when the Old Mukwonago Police Department, in combination with U.S. Immigration and 

Customs Enforcement (ICE) officials, helped to uncover the criminal history of a leader of a 

religious movement. Danny Ocean was arrested around 11 p.m. last night for public intoxication 

and disorderly conduct at one of Old Mukwonago’s local hangouts, Shenanigans. Old 

Mukwonago police officers responded to complaints of a barroom brawl and, upon arrival, took 

Ocean into custody. Security guards at Shenanigans informed police officers that Ocean had 

instigated the fight when he entered the deejay booth to try to reform the establishment’s patrons. 

Following his arrest, Ocean failed to provide police with any form of identification. Using his 

fingerprints, officers eventually discovered that Ocean had been convicted in 2005 for possession 

of 100 grams of cocaine. After having served 39 months in Old Wapun state prison, Ocean was 

deported to his native Columbia in December of 2008. In a statement released soon after the 

arrest, Ocean’s attorney, Virgil Malloy, denied all charges against his client. A police officer, 

speaking on the condition of anonymity, claims that the Old Mukwonago Police Department has 

confirmed Ocean’s immigration status as an undocumented alien with ICE officials. If found 

guilty of illegal reentry into the United States in violation of federal immigration law, Ocean 

would face a possible prison sentence of over 20 years. Assistant U.S. Attorney Frank Catton has 

informed this publication that he intends to prosecute Ocean ―to the fullest extent of the law.‖ 
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Old Mukwonago Dispatch 

October 1, 2010 

 

JURY SELECTION BEGINS IN OCEAN TRIAL 

 

By Turk Malloy 

 

Old Mukwonago, Packerland–Jury selection is set to begin this morning in the trial of Danny 

Ocean, leader of Packerland’s Traditional Baptist Church movement, who is charged with illegal 

reentry into the country after deportation. He was arrested last month after a bar fight at 

Shenanigans.  

The case became a local media sensation when Pastor Kyle Gilford, whose church boasts nearly 

2,000 congregants, came forward in support of Ocean. In a statement released yesterday, Pastor 

Gilford called Ocean ―a loyal friend and a good Christian.‖ For the past fifteen years, Ocean has 

been a part of the organization Save the Unborn, which has vocally denounced Old 

Mukwonago’s pro-choice legislators. The organization was subject to controversy earlier this 

year when three Save the Unborn activists were arrested for harassing a doctor at a Planned 

Parenthood health center and vandalizing the center’s premises. 

The media was also attracted to this case because of the ongoing national debate about 

immigration.  Nonetheless, members of the Traditional Baptist Church community have 

remained steadfast in their support for Ocean, just as they did when he was first charged and 

convicted in 2005. Congregants have hosted bake sales and car washes to fund Ocean’s defense. 

They have raised over $4,600 to date. 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 1 

FOR THE DISTRICT OF OLD MUKWONAGO 2 

JURY SELECTION TRANSCRIPT 3 

OCTOBER 1, 2010 4 

No. 10 CR 210  5 

United States v. Danny Ocean 6 

 7 

Assistant United States Attorney: Frank Catton 8 

Attorney for Defendant: Virgil Malloy 9 

Interpreter: None 10 

Before the Honorable Judge Reuben Tishkoff 11 

No. 20, Holly Combs, duly sworn by the Court and examined on 12 

her voir dire, testified as follows: 13 

 14 

MR. CATTON: Ms. Combs, how are you today? 15 

MS. COMBS: I’m well, thanks. 16 

Q: I’m going to be asking you a bunch of questions, just 17 

like I did of the people before you. If there’s something you 18 

don’t understand, or if you need me to clarify, just say so. 19 

A: Ok. 20 

Q: Ms. Combs, do you have any children? 21 

A: Yes, I’m blessed with six beautiful children. Two girls 22 

and four boys. Oldest one’s nearly seventeen. 23 
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Q: That’s terrific. And Ms. Combs, what do you like to 24 

do with your children on the weekends? 25 

A: Well, the older ones are usually playing in some sorta 26 

sports game, so my husband and I like to take the younger ones 27 

to see the soccer or basketball game, or what have you. Sundays 28 

we try to get to church. Our oldest son, Buddy, sings in the 29 

choir so it’s nice to hear him as often as possible. 30 

Q: Ms. Combs, do you by any chance attend Pastor 31 

Ocean’s church or services at the Traditional Baptist Church? 32 

A: No, sir. 33 

Q: And Ms. Combs, what do you like to read? 34 

A: Heavens, I wish I had more time to read these days! But 35 

I like mystery novels, thrillers — you know, The Da Vinci Code, 36 

that sort of thing. Or a portion of the Bible if I have time to 37 

make it to Bible study on Wednesdays. 38 

Q: Ms. Combs, do you work outside the home? 39 

A: I’m a full-time mom. I have a degree in special 40 

education teaching, but retired after my third child was born. 41 

Sometimes I substitute at the Sunday school, but only when 42 

they’re short staffed. 43 

Q: And one final question. If you could have dinner with 44 

anyone in the world, dead or alive, who would it be? 45 

A: Um, I’m not sure. Does Jesus count? 46 
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Q: Sure, why not? And  .  .  .  Sorry, I know I said final 47 

question, but Ms. Combs, one more. Would the fact that the 48 

defendant was a church leader affect your ability to follow the 49 

law in any way? 50 

A: No. 51 

Q: Thank you, Ms. Combs. That’ll be all. 52 

*  *  * 53 

No. 25, Basher Tarr, duly sworn by the Court and examined on 54 

his voir dire, testified as follows: 55 

 56 

MR. CATTON: Good morning, Mr. Tarr. I’m going to be 57 

asking you some questions similar to the ones I asked Ms. 58 

Combs. 59 

MR. TARR: Sounds good. 60 

Q: Mr. Tarr, what do you like to do on weekends? 61 

A: I coach Little League on Saturdays and play the organ at 62 

the church down my street on Sundays. 63 

Q: That’s terrific. Do you belong to your local church, or 64 

do you just like to play there? 65 

A: I belong. 66 

Q: Would you go every Sunday if you weren’t the organist? 67 

A: Well, uh, I’d like to say I would. I guess my wife 68 

would probably insist. 69 
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Q: And Mr. Tarr, just out of curiosity, do you by any 70 

chance attend Pastor Ocean’s church or services at the 71 

Traditional Baptist Church? 72 

A: No. Who’s Pastor Ocean? 73 

Q: (Laughter) So . . . Mr. Tarr, what do you like to 74 

read? Do you subscribe to any newspapers or magazines? 75 

A: All sorts of things. Newspapers. I subscribe to the 76 

Old Mukwonago Dispatch, a couple trade magazines. 77 

Q: Final couple questions, Mr. Tarr. Did you go to 78 

college? And if so, where and what kind of degree did you get? 79 

A: I went to Old Mukwonago Unity Seminary for my undergraduate 80 

degree and Old Mukwonago Tech for a master’s in computer science. 81 

Q: What exactly did you get your undergrad degree in? 82 

A: Religion. I’m an ordained minister although I never 83 

followed through with it. Fell in love with computers! 84 

Q: So you’ve had some pretty serious theological training, 85 

Mr. Tarr. Will your background have any bearing on your 86 

ability to follow the law in this case? 87 

A: I don’t see why it would. 88 

Q: Thank you for your helpful responses, Mr. Tarr. 89 

That’s all. 90 

*  *  * 91 

MR. MALLOY: Your Honor, at this time the Defense would like 92 
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to raise a Batson challenge. 93 

JUDGE TISHKOFF: Fine. Over which peremptories? 94 

MR. MALLOY: Jurors 20 and 25, your Honor. 95 

JUDGE TISHKOFF: Mr. Catton, please state 96 

your race-neutral reasons for striking Jurors 20 and 25, 97 

assuming you have some. Does the reporter have the jurors’ 98 

names? 99 

MR. CATTON: I have them, your Honor. Ms. Combs and 100 

Mr. Tarr. I struck both due to their heightened religious 101 

involvement. To me, a high level of church involvement suggests 102 

they might have trouble convicting a man prominent in his 103 

religious community, especially one who most likely subscribes 104 

to a similar set of moral values. I think they’ll be defense 105 

oriented. 106 

JUDGE TISHKOFF: Even though both said they could follow the 107 

law and disregard the fact that Mr. Ocean was a church leader? 108 

MR. CATTON: Yes, even so. Your Honor, it is our position 109 

that the deep religious beliefs of these two prospective jurors 110 

overshadow their capacity to be open-minded. 111 

MR. MALLOY: Your Honor, a religion-based peremptory is no 112 

better than a race-based one. This is just as discriminatory. 113 

JUDGE TISHKOFF: Mr. Malloy, that’s not what Batson says. I’m 114 

fine with these reasons. Jurors 20 and 25 are struck. 115 
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State of Packerland Senate Judiciary Committee 

Crime and Drugs 

Committee Hearing on the Proposed  

Packerland Controlled Substances Act  

October 9, 2001 

Opening Statement by Committee Chair Aaron Rodgers: 

I call this meeting to order at 10:02 a.m. on Tuesday, October 9, 2001. This morning, the 

Committee intends to vote on the Packerland Controlled Substances Act, which was introduced 

last month by Committee Member Michael McCarthy. Should this Committee vote in favor of 

the bill, it shall be submitted for the consideration of the entire Senate. As proposed, this 

legislation will address the growing level of crime and drug trafficking that has disrupted our fair 

state of Packerland. As Old Mukwonago’s Police Commissioner Stephen Soderbergh indicated 

in his testimony to our Committee last week, narcotrafficking and its byproducts account for 

most of the criminal activity currently debilitating our capital city. In order to put a stop to the 

drug dealers invading our streets, heavy prison sentences will be imposed on all those convicted 

under the bill. I strongly support the Controlled Substances Act and encourage all Committee 

Members to vote in its favor. I will now open up the floor for some comments before conducting 

a vote. The Committee first recognizes Ranking Member Clay Matthews. 

Clay Matthews: 

Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I would like to offer my strong support for this bill. I have read it 

thoroughly and approve of the Act’s evenhandedness in targeting drug dealers, both large and 

small. The Controlled Substances Act sends a clear message to all traffickers: no matter how 

much you’re dealing, you will be punished severely. The Act will institute a zero-tolerance 

policy for any dealing whatsoever. Therefore, I urge all of my colleagues to support this bill as it 

now stands. Thank you.  

Chairman Rodgers: 

Thank you, Senator. The Committee will now recognize Senator Mason Crosby. 

Mason Crosby: 

Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Although I too think that this body needs to address our state’s 

growing level of crime, I still believe that this Committee needs to clarify exactly who this bill 

targets: the drug dealers or the substance abusers. I would like to propose an amendment that will 

help law enforcement agencies understand that drug trafficking is the central focus of this bill. 

As the bill now stands, this purpose is not entirely clear.  

Chairman Rodgers: 

Thank you Mr. Crosby for your comments. Unfortunately, I believe that most of this Committee 

disagrees with your position. I think that the statute’s current language very clearly targets drug 
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dealers. Furthermore, we have not allotted time for any amendments this morning. I would 

suggest that you raise your concerns on the floor of the full Senate. 

Now, unless there are any more comments to be made, I propose that the Committee vote on this 

bill. All in favor? All opposed? It shall be recorded that nine Committee Members have voted in 

favor of this bill and seven Members have voted against it. According to our bylaws, this bill has 

been reported out of Committee and will be submitted to the Senate for its consideration. 

This meeting is adjourned at 10:17 a.m.
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PACKERLAND CONTROLLED SUBSTANCES ACT  

GENERAL STATUTE SECTION 55 (2002) 

Title 38. Public Health and Safety 

Chapter 325. Controlled Substances 

Article 3. Packerland Controlled Substances Act 

§ 55. Violations; Penalties 

(a) It is unlawful for any person: 

(1) To manufacture, sell, deliver, or possess with intent 

to manufacture, sell, deliver, or distribute a controlled 

substance; or 

(2) To possess a controlled substance. 

(b) Any person who violates G.S. 55(a)(1) shall be punished as a Class I felon. 

(c) Except as provided in subsection (h) of this section, any person who violates G.S. 55(a)(2) 

with respect to: 

. . . 

(2) A controlled substance classified in Schedule II, III, or IV shall be guilty of a Class I 

misdemeanor. . . . If the controlled substance is methamphetamine, amphetamine, 

phencyclidine, or cocaine and any salt, isomer, salts of isomers, compound, derivative, or 

preparation thereof . . . which is chemically equivalent or identical with any of these 

substances, the violation shall be punishable as a Class I felony. 

. . . 

(h) Notwithstanding any other provision of law, the following provisions apply except as 

otherwise provided in this Article. 

. . . 

(2) Any person who sells, manufactures, delivers, transports, or possesses 25 grams or 

more of cocaine . . . shall be guilty of a felony, which felony shall be known as 

―trafficking in cocaine‖ or a ―drug trafficking crime.‖ If the quantity of such substance or 

mixture involved: 

a. Is 25 grams or more, but less than 50 grams, with intent to sell, manufacture, 

deliver, transport, or possess, such person shall be sentenced as a Class F felon 

and shall be sentenced to a minimum term of 13 months and a maximum term of 

30 months; 

b. Is 50 grams or more, but less than 200 grams, such person shall be punished as 

a Class G felon and shall be sentenced to a minimum term of 30 months and a 

maximum term of 50 months in the State’s prison and shall be fined not less than 

fifty-five thousand dollars ($55,000); 

*  * *
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SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF PACKERLAND 

COUNTY OF SWISS 

 

 

 

 

 INDICTMENT 

 2005CF1005 

 

 

 

 

 

 

COUNT 1: 

POSSESSION OF A CONTROLLED SUBSTANCE WITH INTENT TO DISTRIBUTE 

COUNT 2: 

POSSESSION OF A CONTROLLED SUBSTANCE 

 

GRAND JURY 

6TH TERM 

 

JUNE 15, 2005 

A TRUE BILL 

 

 

FIRST COUNT: 

 

THE GRAND JURY OF THE COUNTY OF SWISS BY THIS 

INDICMENT, ACCUSES THE DEFENDANT OF POSSESSION OF COCAINE WITH 

INTENT TO DISTRIBUTE, A CLASS G FELONY, COMMITTED AS FOLLOWS: 

THE DEFENDANT, ON OR ABOUT MAY 30, 2005, IN THE COUNTY OF 

SWISS, WITH INTENT TO MANUFACTURE, SELL, DELIVER, OR 

DISTRIBUTE A CONTROLLED SUBSTANCE, DID POSSESS 100 GRAMS OF 

COCAINE. 

 

SECOND COUNT: 

THE GRAND JURY OF THE COUNTY OF SWISS BY THIS 

INDICTMENT, ACCUSES THE DEFENDANT OF THE CRIME OF POSSESSION OF 

A CONTROLLED SUBSTANCE, A CLASS G FELONY, COMMITTED AS FOLLOWS: 

THE DEFENDANT, ON OR ABOUT MAY 30, 2005, IN THE COUNTY OF 

SWISS, DID POSSESS 100 GRAMS OF COCAINE. 

: 

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF PACKERLAND             : 

: 

V.                                               : 

: 

DANNY OCEAN,                                                           : 

DEFENDANT.                              : 

: 
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/s/       

FOREPERSON 

 

 

/s/       

Linus Caldwell 

DISTRICT ATTORNEY 

 

 

Dated: June 15, 2005
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JURY INSTRUCTIONS 

August 23, 2005 

Hon. Terry Benedict: 

Now that we have heard from both the prosecution and the defense, it is up to you, the 

jury, to determine whether Defendant Ocean is guilty of the crime of possession with intent to 

distribute a controlled substance or of the crime of possession of a controlled substance.  

Although the intent with which a person acts often cannot be proven directly, a 

defendant’s state of mind may be proven from the circumstances surrounding his arrest. It is 

entirely up to you to determine whether the prosecution has presented enough evidence in order 

to prove that Mr. Ocean had the intent to manufacture, sell, or deliver the controlled substance, 

which is proscribed under section 55(a)(1). The jury should only find Defendant guilty under 

section 55(a)(1) if it believes beyond a reasonable doubt that he had the intent to manufacture, 

sell, or deliver the 100 grams of cocaine. Otherwise, if any of you have an inkling that Mr. Ocean 

simply possessed the cocaine for his own consumption, then you should vote to convict him 

under section 55(a)(2). This decision is entirely up to you, as the ultimate factfinder in this case. 
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SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF PACKERLAND  

COUNTY OF SWISS 

 

 

 

 

 VERDICT 

 2005CF1005 

 

 

 

 

 

 

WE THE JURY UNANIMOUSLY FIND: 

 

DEFENDANT, DANNY OCEAN, GUILTY OF A DRUG TRAFFICKING 

CRIME FOR POSSESSION OF A CONTROLLED SUBSTANCE IN VIOLATION OF 

P.G.S. § 55(a)(2). 

 

 

/s/      

FOREPERSON 

 

 

/s/      

HON. TERRY BENEDICT 

SUPERIOR COURT 

SWISS COUNTY 

 

 

Dated: September 5, 2005 

: 

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF PACKERLAND             : 

: 

V.                                              : 

: 

DANNY OCEAN,                                                           : 

DEFENDANT.                              : 

: 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE DISTRICT OF PACKERLAND 

 

 

 

 

 INDICTMENT 

No. 10 CR 210  

 

 

 

 

THE GRAND JURY CHARGES: 

That Defendant, DANNY OCEAN, an alien, was excluded, deported, and removed from 

the United States on or about December, 2008 subsequent to conviction for commission of an 

aggravated felony, namely, on or about September 5, 2005, Possession of a Controlled 

Substance, in the Superior Court of Packerland, County of Swiss. Thereafter, on or about 

September 7, 2010, Defendant was found within the State and District of Packerland without the 

express consent of the Attorney General or any other official designated by statute for re-

application for admission to the United States.  

All in violation of 8 U.S.C. § 1326(a) and (b)(2). 

 

A TRUE BILL. 

 

 

/s/      

Jerry Weintraub  

Grand Jury Foreperson 

 

 

/s/      

Frank Catton, Esq. 

Assistant U.S. Attorney 

515 W. Moreland Ave. 

Old Mukwonago, Packerland 08751 

 

 

Dated: September 15, 2010

: 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA                                 : 

: 

v.                                                : 

: 

 DANNY OCEAN,                                                          : 

Defendant.                              : 

: 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE DISTRICT OF PACKERLAND 

 

 

 

 

 VERDICT 

No. 10 CR 210  

 

 

 

 

 

WE THE JURY FIND: 

Defendant, DANNY OCEAN, GUILTY of unlawful reentry in violation of 8 U.S.C. § 

1326(a) and (b)(2). 

 

 

/s/      

Topher Grace 

Jury Foreperson 

 

 

/s/      

Hon. Reuben Tishkoff 

District Court Judge 

United States District Court 

District of Packerland 

 

 

Dated: October 15, 2010 

: 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA                                 : 

: 

v.                                                : 

: 

 DANNY OCEAN,                                                          : 

Defendant.                              : 

: 



 

18 

 

SUMMARY OF PRESENTENCE INVESTIGATION REPORT 

 

This report has been prepared by U.S. Probation Officer Barry Watson in accordance with Fed. 

R. Crim. P. 32(d). The summary below provides a condensed version of the information required 

by that Rule. The Appendices provide additional documentation and analysis relating to each 

section. 

 

 

Case No.: No. 10 CR 210  

Name of Defendant: Danny Ocean 

Age of Defendant: 35 Years 

Citizenship: Columbia  

Crime of Conviction: 8 U.S.C. § 1326(a), 1326(b)(2)—illegal reentry of an alien 

with past conviction of aggravated felony (possession of a 

controlled substance) 

 

Calculation of sentence: 

Under 8 U.S.C. § 1326(a), the Defendant ―shall be fined under Title 18, or imprisoned not more 

than 2 years, or both.‖ 8 U.S.C. § 1326(a). Defendant’s sentence shall be increased by 20 years 

under § 1326(b), which applies to a removed alien ―whose removal was subsequent to a 

conviction for commission of an aggravated felony.‖ 8 U.S.C. § 1326(b)(2). According to 8 

U.S.C. § 1101, the term ―aggravated felony‖ includes the ―illicit trafficking in a controlled 

substance (as defined in section 802 of Title 21), including a drug trafficking crime (as defined in 

section 924(c) of Title 18).‖ 8 U.S.C. § 1101(a)(43)(B). Thus, under 8 U.S.C. § 1326, Defendant 

is subject to a fine and a 22-year term of imprisonment.  

Under USSG § 2L1.2(a), the base offense level of unlawfully entering or remaining in the United 

States in violation of 8 U.S.C. § 1326 is 8. USSG § 2L1.2(a). Under section 2L1.2(b)(1)(A), the 

sentencing level must be increased by 16 levels, since Defendant was deported following ―a 

conviction for a drug trafficking offense for which the sentence imposed exceeded 13 months.‖ 

USSG § 2L1.2(b)(1)(A). Defendant does not qualify for any adjustments under Chapter 3 of the 

Sentencing Guidelines. See U.S. Sentencing Comm’n, Guidelines Manual, Ch. 3. No downward 

departure is warranted, since Defendant’s prior conviction meets the definition of an aggravated 

felony under 8 U.S.C. § 1101(a)(43). See U.S. Sentencing Guidelines Manual § 2L1.2 cmt. n.7 

(2008). Defendant has a criminal history level of 5 due to his prior sentence of imprisonment, 

which exceeded 13 months, and his illegal reentry into the United States, which occurred less 

than 7 months after his release from prison and removal from the United States. See U.S. 

Sentencing Comm’n, Guidelines Manual, Ch. 4. Thus, Defendant’s total offense level of 24, in 

combination with Defendant’s criminal history level of 5, produces a Sentencing Guidelines 

range of 63–78 months. See USSG Ch. 5, Pt. A, Sentencing Table.  

Thus, incorporating the sentences provided by 8 U.S.C. § 1326 and the Sentencing Guidelines, 

Defendant is subject to a fine and sentence of at least 27 years and 3 months in prison.  
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Defendant’s history and characteristics:  

Defendant is a male aged 35. He is currently single and has no children. Defendant is employed 

as a Church Leader in Packerland.  

Prior record:  

Defendant was convicted in September 2005 of Possession of a Controlled Substance in 

violation of the Packerland Controlled Substances Act. Defendant was sentenced to a term of 39 

months and fined $50,000. After serving his sentence, Defendant was deported to Columbia, 

where he was and remains a citizen.  

Financial condition:  

Defendant earned roughly $95,000 a year working as a Church Leader prior to his arrest in 2005. 

Nature and extent of non-prison programs available to Defendant:  

Defendant is a drug user, making him a viable candidate for rehabilitative programs. However, 

considering the nature of his recent conviction, diversion is not an appropriate approach.  

Recommendation of the Probation Officer:  

This office recommends that Defendant receive a sentence toward the top of the advisory 

sentencing range. In light of the brief interim between Defendant’s release from prison and his 

illegal reentry into the United States, it is suggested that he receive a sentence of 28 years.  

 

 

/s/      

Barry Watson 

U.S. Probation Officer 

200 Wisconsin Avenue  

Old Mukwonago, Packerland 08751 

 

 

Dated: October 30, 2010 

 

 

[Appendices omitted] 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 1 

FOR THE DISTRICT OF PACKERLAND 2 

SENTENCING TRANSCRIPT/COLLOQUY 3 

NOVEMBER 15, 2010 4 

No. 10 CR 210  5 

United States v. Danny Ocean 6 

 7 

Assistant United States Attorney: Frank Catton 8 

Attorney for Defendant: Virgil Malloy 9 

Interpreter: None 10 

Before the Honorable Rueben Tishkoff 11 

 12 

THE COURT: In the matter of the United States against 13 

Danny Ocean, we are scheduled for a sentencing conference 14 

to determine the appropriate sentence for Mr. Ocean’s 15 

conviction under title 8, United States Code, section 1326(a) 16 

and (b)(2). Counsel, please state your appearances. 17 

MR. CATTON: Frank Catton for the Government, your 18 

Honor. 19 

MR.: MALLOY: Virgil Malloy for the 20 

Defendant Danny Ocean. 21 

THE COURT: And each of you have received a copy of the 22 

presentence investigation report? 23 
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MR. CATTON: Yes, your Honor. 24 

MR. MALLOY: Yes, your Honor. 25 

THE COURT: At this time I am prepared to adopt the 26 

recommendation of the Probation Department that this Court 27 

sentence defendant to 28 years in prison under the guidance of 28 

U.S. Sentencing Guidelines section 2L1.2. Are there any 29 

objections? 30 

MR. MALLOY: Your Honor, the defense objects to the 31 

Court’s application of section 2L1.2(b)(1)(A) of the U.S. 32 

Sentencing Guidelines. Under the terms of the Packerland 33 

Controlled Substances Act, Mr. Ocean’s 2005 conviction for 34 

possession of a controlled substance does not fall under the 35 

definition of a ―drug trafficking offense,‖ as provided by the 36 

Application Notes of section 2L1.2(b)(1). Unlike the U.S. 37 

Sentencing Guidelines, the Packerland Controlled Substances 38 

Act does not define my client’s conviction for possession of a 39 

controlled substance with an element of intent. As a result, 40 

Mr. Ocean’s 2005 conviction should be regarded as an 41 

aggravated felony under section 2L1.2(b)(1)(C). Under this 42 

reading of the Sentencing Guidelines, the base offense level 43 

only would be increased by 8 levels. Ultimately, Mr. 44 

Ocean’s sentence under section 1326 would only be enhanced 45 

by 27 to 33 months, rather than 63 to 78 months. 46 
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THE COURT: Your objection is noted counsel, but overruled. 47 

I find the Probation Department’s rationale for the imposition 48 

of this sentence persuasive, and I believe it to be a reasonable 49 

sentence. Furthermore, acknowledging that the Sentencing 50 

Guidelines are now advisory under Booker, this sentence is only 51 

about 12 months greater than the one I would have imposed. If 52 

you wish to file an appeal, you must do so by December 5, 2010. 53 

MR. MALLOY: Thank you, your Honor. 54 
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE DISTRICT OF PACKERLAND 

 

 

 

 

 NOTICE OF APPEAL 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that DANNY OCEAN, appeals to the United States Court 

of Appeals for the Fourteenth Circuit from the United States District Court for the District of 

PACKERLAND entered in the above-titled action on October 15, 2010. 

 

 

/s/      

Virgil Malloy, Esq. 

Attorney for Defendant 

Federal Defenders 

1977 National Ave. 

Old Mukwonago, Packerland 08751 

 

 

Dated: November 17, 2010 

: 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA                                 : 

: 

v.                                              : 

: 

DANNY OCEAN,                                                           : 

Defendant.                              : 

: 
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UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS 

FOR THE FOURTEENTH CIRCUIT 

 

 

 

 

 

 OPINION AND ORDER 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Macy, J. 

 

 

INTRODUCTION 

The Appellant, Danny Ocean, brings this appeal claiming that the Government violated 

the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment when it peremptorily struck two 

African- American Christian jurors. The district court held that the jurors’ religious involvement 

was a legitimate race-neutral reason for striking the jurors. Since the record indicates that the 

jurors were struck for their unusually vigorous religious involvement and not for being members 

of a particular religious denomination, we affirm the ruling of the district court. 

Appellant also challenges the sentence imposed by the district court. Appellant claims 

that the court’s application of the U.S. Sentencing Guidelines Manual section 2L1.2(b) was 

inaccurate. However, for the reasons given below, the Court affirms the decision of the district 

court.  

SUMMARY OF FACTS 

Appellant is a 35-year-old citizen of Columbia who first arrived in the United States in 

1993 on a student visa. After graduating from Packerland University in 1997, Appellant applied 

for an adjustment of status and became a legal permanent resident (―LPR‖). During his student 

years, the appellant began Packerland’s Baptist Church Movement.  The congregants have 

continued to support Mr. Ocean through all of the legal troubles he has had.  In the summer of 

2005, Appellant was convicted for possession of 100 grams of cocaine under section 55(a)(2) of 

the Packerland Controlled Substances Act. Appellant was sentenced to 39 months in state prison 

under section 55(h)(2)(b). Following his release from prison, Appellant was deemed deportable 

by United States Immigration and Customs Enforcement (―ICE‖) and, thus, removed from the 

United States in December 2008.  Even while out of the country, Mr. Ocean continued to be a 

part of the movement.   

: 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA                                 : 

: 

v.                                                : 

: 

DANNY OCEAN,                                                           : 

Defendant.                              : 

: 
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In September 2010, Appellant was arrested by officers of the Old Mukwonago Police 

Department for public intoxication and unruly conduct. Although these charges have since been 

dismissed, police officers contacted immigration authorities when they learned of Appellant’s 

unauthorized presence in this country. Appellant was charged and convicted of illegal reentry in 

the United States in violation of 8 U.S.C. § 1326. Following his trial, Appellant was sentenced 

28 years in federal prison. Appellant now seeks to remand for resentencing. Appellant argues 

that his prior conviction for possession of a controlled substance should not be classified as a 

―drug trafficking offense‖ under the Sentencing Guidelines and instead should be deemed an 

aggravated felony. Almost immediately, members of Ocean’s church and a well-regarded pastor, 

Kyle Gilford, made public statements in support of Ocean.  

Jury selection for Appellant’s trial was conducted in two parts. First, the potential jurors 

filled out a questionnaire consisting of seven questions. Based upon those answers, the judge 

dismissed approximately thirty jurors. Next, the Government and defense counsel were given an 

opportunity to conduct a voir dire of the remaining sixty jurors in the panel. Upon questioning 

from the Government, prospective juror Holly Combs, an African-American, revealed that she 

attended church regularly; that her son sang in the choir; that she reads the Bible; that she attends 

Bible study; that she occasionally substitutes at Sunday school; and that the person she would 

most like to dine with, dead or alive, would be Jesus Christ. (Tr. Jury Selection 44-46). Likewise, 

prospective juror Basher Tarr revealed during voir dire that he belongs to, and plays the organ in, 

his local church and that he received a degree from Old Mukwonago Unity Seminary to become 

an ordained minister. 

The Government peremptorily struck Combs and Tarr. Although one African-American 

had already been chosen for the jury, the peremptory strikes left only three other African-

American prospective jurors in the pool of over sixty. In response, the defense raised a challenge 

under Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79 (1986), charging that Combs and Tarr were struck only 

because of their race. The District Court then asked the Government to state a race-neutral reason 

for striking Combs and Tarr. In response, the Government stated that their ―high level of church 

involvement suggested they might have trouble convicting a man prominent in his religious 

community.‖ (Tr. Jury Selection 103-106).  

DISCUSSION 

I. THE GOVERNMENT PROPERLY EXERCISED ITS PEREMPTORY 

CHALLENGES.  

At issue in this case is whether the exercise of peremptory challenges based on religious 

practice violates the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment. Appellant argues 

that Batson, 476 U.S. at 79, extends to religion-based peremptory challenges and that the 

Government’s striking of Combs and Tarr on the basis of their affiliations with Christian 

churches was improper. Appellant argues that the Supreme Court’s Equal Protection 

jurisprudence mandates a logical extension of Batson to other suspect classes, such as religious 

groups, which traditionally receive heightened scrutiny. Appellant draws our attention to J.E.B. 

v. Alabama, 511 U.S. 127, 144-45 (1994), where the Court held that the logic of Batson should 

be extended to gender-based peremptory strikes.  
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As an initial matter, it is important to consider the role of peremptory strikes in our 

justice system. Peremptory challenges are ―part of our common law heritage and play a crucial 

part in empaneling [sic] fair and impartial juries.‖ United States v. DeJesus, 347 F.3d 500, 505 

(3d Cir. 2003). By definition, a peremptory challenge is without cause and can be based on 

anything—including a trial lawyer’s gut reaction. See United States v. Uwaezhoke, 995 F.2d 

388, 394 n.5 (3d Cir. 1993). The preemptory challenge was unrestricted until 1986, when, in 

Batson, the Supreme Court held that the use of a peremptory challenge based on a prospective 

juror’s race was unconstitutional under the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth 

Amendment. Batson, 476 U.S. at 89. Eight years later, the Court extended this reasoning to 

genderbased strikes. J.E.B., 511 U.S. at 144-45.  

To succeed on a Batson challenge, a moving party must show that the other side used its 

peremptory strike(s) to remove members of a certain race from the jury pool. Batson, 476 U.S. at 

96. The opposing party is then given an opportunity to put forth a race-neutral reason for 

excluding the juror(s) at issue. Id. In this case, the Government’s race neutral reason was Combs’ 

and Tarr’s ―high level[s] of church involvement.‖ (Tr. Jury Selection 102-106).  

Ocean argues that this reason, though race-neutral, is similarly unconstitutional because 

the ―free exercise of religion is a fundamental right,‖ and because striking jurors on the basis of 

their religion would be repugnant to the First and Fourteenth Amendments. Ocean directs our 

attention to Church of Lukumi Babalu Aye, Inc. v. City of Hialeah, 508 U.S. 520, 533 (1993), 

where the Supreme Court held that the targeting of religious beliefs is never permissible.  

Even though the Government never directly asked Combs or Tarr which religious 

denominations they ascribed to, Ocean argues that their answers made it clear that they were 

members of Christian churches. He points to Combs’ references to ―Sunday School‖ and Jesus as 

obvious references to Christianity, as well as Tarr’s comment that he was an ―ordained minister‖ 

from a well-known Christian seminary. We agree with Appellant that indeed sufficient 

information was available for the Government to determine that both prospective jurors were 

congregants of Christian churches.  

Ocean argues that several courts have held that Batson should be extended to religion-

based strikes, and Ocean cites dicta from the Seventh Circuit. See United States v. Stafford, 136 

F.3d 1109, 1114 (7th Cir. 1998) (―[I]t would be improper and perhaps unconstitutional to strike a 

juror on the basis of his being a Catholic, a Jew, a Muslim, etc.‖). United States v. Somerstein, 

959 F. Supp. 592, 595 (E.D.N.Y. 1997) (extending Batson to religious-based challenges). 

Several state courts have also extended Batson. See, e.g., New Jersey v. Fuller, 812 A.2d 389, 

397 (N.J. Super. Ct. App. Div. 2002) (finding that exclusion of jurors based on religious 

affiliation would violate the state constitution’s equal protection clause); Arizona v. Purcell, 18 

P.3d 113, 120 (Ariz. Ct. App. 2001) (holding that Batson extends to peremptory strikes based 

upon religious affiliation); Thorson v. Mississippi, 721 So. 2d 590, 594 (Miss. 1998) (holding 

that the state constitution prohibits the exercise of peremptory challenges based solely on a 

person’s religion).  

Ocean further argues that even if strikes based on a juror’s heightened religious 

involvement were constitutional, it is nonetheless improper to strike a juror based on his 
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religious affiliation or denomination. For support, Ocean cites DeJesus, 347 F.3d at 510 (stating 

that strikes based on religious affiliation, as opposed to involvement, are improper). The Seventh 

Circuit followed this logic and held that ―it is necessary to distinguish among religious 

affiliation, a religion’s general tenets, and a specific religious belief. . . . It would be proper to 

strike [a juror] on the basis of a belief that would prevent him from basing his decision on the 

evidence and instructions, even if the belief had a religious backing . . . .‖ Stafford, 136 F.3d at 

1114.  

In contrast, the Government contends that trial attorneys are entitled to exclude jurors for 

any reason, without cause, so long as the reason is race and gender neutral. The Government 

points to the fact that the Supreme Court has declined all opportunities to rule on the religion-

based peremptory challenge. See Rico v. Leftridge-Byrd, 340 F.3d 178, 183 (3d Cir. 2003) 

(suggesting that Batson protection was only due to a suspect class that had been disparately 

represented on juries in the past); United States v. Berger, 224 F.3d 107, 120 (2d Cir. 2000) 

(finding that peremptory strike of a rabbi did not violate Batson); Stafford, 136 F.3d at 1114 

(allowing a strike based on religion specifically because the ―status of peremptory challenges 

based on religion‖ was unsettled); Davis v. Minnesota, 511 U.S. 1115, 1115 (1994); DeJesus, 

347 F.3d at 510.  

We agree with the distinction drawn by the District Court— that a strike motivated by 

religious beliefs is proper, while a strike motivated by religious affiliation is not. While the 

record is silent on whether the Government knew to which denomination Combs and Tarr 

belonged, we believe that sufficient information was available to determine the fact that they 

were Christians. However, their adherence to Christianity does not seem to have affected the 

Government’s peremptory challenge. The Government never asked anything specific about their 

loyalties to a specific church. It seems reasonable that the Government would simply have been 

wary of anyone practicing religion in a case against a religious leader who publicly espoused 

beliefs that are fundamental to value systems of many Christian denominations. General 

religious beliefs and involvement are proper race-and gender-neutral reasons for exercising 

peremptory challenges. Because we can find nothing in the record to indicate that the 

Government struck Combs or Tarr based on their allegiance to a particular church, we affirm the 

finding of the District Court that the Government’s peremptory strikes were based on heightened 

religious involvement. 

II. THE PACKERLAND CONTROLLED SUBSTANCES ACT INCLUDES A 

CLEAR PRESUMPTION OF INTENT FOR SENTENCES UNDER SECTION 

55(H)(2)(B). 

Although Appellant provides several cases from various circuits in support of his 

position, see e.g. United States v. Ramirez, 344 F.3d 247, 248 (2d Cir. 2003) (holding that a state 

felony conviction for possession of a controlled substance constituted an aggravated felony under 

section 2L1.2(b) of the Sentencing Guidelines), this Court finds the Eleventh Circuit precedent, 

United States v. Madera-Madera, 333 F.3d 1228 (11th Cir. 2003), highly relevant and persuasive 

in this case. Since section 55(h)(2)(a) provided an element of intent for a lesser amount of 

cocaine, the Packerland legislature intended for all sentences under section 55(h)(2)(b) to include 

a presumption of intent. We agree with the Eleventh Circuit that this textual distinction between 
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sections 55(h)(2)(a) and 55(h)(2)(b) is explained by a bulk theory of intent. Like the Georgia 

statute, section 55(h)(2)(b) deals with a significantly greater amount of cocaine and imposes a 

much heavier sentence than section 55(h)(2)(a). Therefore, section 55(h)(2)(b) simply builds off 

of section 55(h)(2)(a) and includes an unwritten presumption of intent.  

Regardless of whether a defendant is sentenced under section 55(h)(2)(a) or section 

55(h)(2)(b), the offense still is classified as ―trafficking in cocaine‖ and a ―drug trafficking 

crime.‖ However, section 55(h)(2)(b) deals with a much more serious offense, as the maximum 

sentence it imposes is almost double the length of a sentence given under section 55(h)(2)(a). 

Although neither party argued this point, it is also worth noting that a sentence under section 

55(h)(2)(b) is classified as a Class G felony, rather than the statutorily less severe Class F felony.  

Because the statutory elements clearly show that section 55(h)(2)(b) includes an 

inference of intent, the Court need not consider the indictment or jury instructions.  

Though outside our scope of review, it is also worth noting that the quantity of drugs 

involved in this case is substantial. Under the standards of other states, such as North Carolina, 

Georgia, and Ohio, possession of 100 grams of cocaine certainly would be deemed a drug 

trafficking offense. See N.C. Gen. Stat. Ann. § 90-95(h)(3); Ohio Rev. Code. Ann § 

2925.03(C)(4)(d); Ga. Code Ann. § 16-13-31(a). In Packerland, Appellant’s conviction fits this 

category.  

CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons, the sentence entered by the district court is AFFIRMED.  

 

 

IT IS SO ORDERED. 

 

 

/s/      

Hon. Lara Macy 

Circuit Court Chief Judge 

United States Court of 

 Appeals 

Fourteenth Circuit 

 

 

Dated: November 31, 2011 
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THE SUPREME COURT 

OF THE UNITED STATES 

APRIL TERM 2012 

 

 

 

 

 

       PETITION FOR CERTIORARI  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

On Petition for Writ of Certiorari to the United States Court of Appeals for the 

Fourteenth Circuit. 

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI 

Virgil Malloy, Esq., Counsel of Record, 1977 National Ave., Old Mukwonago, 

Packerland, 08751.  

QUESTIONS PRESENTED 

I. Whether the exercise of peremptory challenges based on religious practice violates the 

Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment. 

II. Whether Petitioner’s prior conviction for possession of a controlled substance constitutes 

a ―drug trafficking offense‖ under the Federal Sentencing Guidelines, U.S. Sentencing 

Comm’n, Guidelines Manual, § 2L1.2(b) (Nov. 2008), absent an explicit element of 

intent. 

 

 

/s/      

Virgil Malloy, Esq. 

Attorney for Defendant 

Federal Defenders 

1977 National Ave. 

Old Mukwonago, Packerland 08751 

 

Dated: December 10, 2011 

: 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA                                 : 

: 

v.                                               : 

: 

DANNY OCEAN,                                                           : 

Defendant.                              : 

: 
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THE SUPREME COURT 

OF THE UNITED STATES 

APRIL TERM 2012 

 

 

 

 

 

 ORDER GRANTING 

 CERTIORARI 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ROBERTS, C.J. 

An application having been made for certiorari from the judgment entered by the 

Fourteenth Circuit Court of Appeals, dated November 31, 2011, it is hereby  

ORDERED, that the application for certiorari be GRANTED and that the following 

issues be certified for argument in this Court:  

Whether the exercise of peremptory challenges based on religious practice violates the 

Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment. 

Petitioner’s prior conviction for possession of a controlled substance constitutes a ―drug 

trafficking offense‖ under the Federal Sentencing Guidelines, U.S. Sentencing Comm’n, 

Guidelines Manual, § 2L1.2(b) (Nov. 2008), absent an explicit element of intent. 

 

/s/      

Hon. John Roberts 

Chief Justice 

Supreme Court of the 

United States of America 

 

 

Dated: December 30, 2011 

: 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA                                 : 

: 

v.                                               : 

: 

DANNY OCEAN,                                                           : 

Defendant.                              : 

: 


